**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**SUPREME COURT NO. 20-0359  
(Scott County No. FECR404118)**

---

**STATE OF IOWA**

**Plaintiff-Appellee**

**vs.**

**WALTER MILLER JR.**

**Defendant-Appellant**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR  
SCOTT COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE HENRY W. LATHAM PRESIDING**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

/s/Thomas Hurd  
THOMAS HURD            0010952  
LAW OFFICE OF THOMAS HURD PLC  
309 Court Ave, Suite 233  
Des Moines, IA 50309  
Phone: (515) 875.4924; Fax: (515) 875.4925  
Thomas@thomashurdlaw.com  
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

**CERTIFICATE OF FILING**

I hereby certify:

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the case:** This is a direct criminal appeal.

**Course of Underlying Proceedings:** By Trial Information filed September 17, 2019, the State of Iowa Charged Miller with four criminal counts totaling potentially 107 years of incarceration with a potential mandatory minimum of 18.5 years to 75 years. Mot. Hearing at 14:2-4. The Public Defender had previously been appointed to represent Miller on August 24, 2019. App. at 13. A pretrial conference was held October 4, 2019 at which time the parties agreed to a December 2, 2019 trial date. App. at 25. Miller Demanded a speedy trial and the speedy trial deadline was December 16, 2019. Hearing on Mot. 3:18.

On November 19, 2019 Miller's counsel filed a motion to withdraw. App. at 30. The motion came before the Court on November 26, 2019 wherein the Court granted the motion. Miller subsequently waived counsel and represented himself at trial. Judgement and sentence were pronounced on February 14, 2020 and Miller timely appealed on February 20, 2020.

**Statement of the Facts:** By Trial Information filed September 17, 2019, the State of Iowa Charged Miller with four criminal counts

totaling potentially 107 years of incarceration with a potential mandatory minimum of 18.5 years to 75 years. Mot. Hearing at 14:2-4. The Public Defender had previously been appointed to represent Miller on August 24, 2019. App. at 13. A pretrial conference was held October 4, 2019 at which time the parties agreed to a December 2, 2019 trial date. App. at 25. Miller Demanded a speedy trial and the speedy trial deadline was December 16, 2019. Hearing on Mot. 3:18.

On November 19, 2019 Miller's counsel filed a motion to withdraw. App. at 30. The motion came before the Court on November 26, 2019, just 7 days before the date set for trial. Miller himself never complained about the performance of his counsel, and never filed a motion to replace him. *See generally*, Docket in FECR404118.

During the hearing on counsel's motion to withdraw, Mr. Miller objected to the withdraw of his counsel and the following occurred:

THE COURT: Mr. Miller, do you understand what your attorney is telling me? That based on his investigation and his conversations with you, he believes he cannot ethically continue to represent you and must withdraw. Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Yes.

**THE COURT: Very well. Do you have any objection?**

**THE DEFENDANT: By being so close to trial, what am I supposed to do?**

THE COURT: The State has filed a motion to continue. Is that correct, Mr. Berger?

MR. BERGER: That is correct.

THE COURT: And I believe that we have a speedy trial issue.

MR. BERGER: We do. The demand runs on December 16. The State's perfectly willing to try it December 9 or 16. It's just we have a witness in training on December 2, and so we are requesting to bump it one or two weeks. However, I don't know that -- if he's requesting that a new counsel be appointed whether new counsel would get up to speed on the case in that two-week period. So it may be that this problem he has with Mr. Jones may cause the need for further delay of his waiver of speedy trial, which can be immediately re-demanded and start a new 90-day with his new attorney, I suppose.

THE COURT: Sir, what the county attorney is saying is that --

THE DEFENDANT: I do understand what he's saying. I don't want to waive my 90 days, if that's what he's saying. No.

THE COURT: Well, first, let's start with the issue of your right to counsel. You have a constitutional right to have an attorney appointed to represent you because you remain indigent. The Court grants -- Well, based on the colloquy that I have had with your attorney, **I believe I have no choice but to grant his application to withdraw.**

Hearing on Mots. 3-4 (emphasis added).

Other facts will be discussed as relevant.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **PRESERVATION OF ERROR.**

Error was preserved on this issue because the District Court ruled on the motion to withdraw and subsequently accepted a waiver of counsel.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW.**

Our review of the district court's decision regarding counsel's motion to withdraw is for abuse of discretion. See State v. Brooks, 540 N.W.2d 270, 272 (Iowa 1995). We find an abuse of discretion only upon a showing the court exercised its discretion on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable. State v. Vanover, 559 N.W.2d 618, 627 (Iowa 1997). "We conduct a de novo review when the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel or self-representation is at issue." State v. Johnson, 756 N.W.2d 682, 686 (Iowa 2008). We independently evaluate the defendant's claim under the totality of the circumstances as shown by the entire record. State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197, 201 (Iowa 2004).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING COUNSEL'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW AND**

## **THE SUBSEQUENT WAIVER OF COUNSEL BY THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT INTELLIGENT AND VOLUNTARY**

This case involves an abuse of discretion by the trial court in applying Iowa R. Prof. Conduct 32:1.16(c) when ruling on an attorney's motion to withdraw. Subsequently the Court elicited an involuntary waiver of the right to counsel.

Walter Lee Miller Jr. (Miller) has a tenth grade education. Hearing on Mot. 7:3-5. By Trial Information filed September 17, 2019, the State of Iowa Charged Miller with four criminal counts totaling potentially 107 years of incarceration with a potential mandatory minimum of 18.5 years to 75 years. Mot. Hearing at 14:2-4. The Public Defender had previously been appointed to represent Miller on August 24, 2019. Hearing for Initial Appearance. A pretrial conference was held October 4, 2019 at which time the parties agreed to a December 2, 2019 trial date. App. at 25. Miller Demanded a speedy trial and the speedy trial deadline was December 16, 2019. Hearing on Mot. 3:18.

On November 19, 2019 Miller's counsel filed a motion to withdraw. Motion to Withdraw. The motion came before the Court on November 26, 2019 just 7 days before the date set for trial. Miller

himself never complained about the performance of his counsel, and never filed a motion to replace him. *See generally*, Docket in FECR404118.

During the hearing on counsel's motion to withdraw, Mr. Miller objected to the withdraw of his counsel and the following occurred:

**THE COURT:** Mr. Miller, do you understand what your attorney is telling me? That based on his investigation and his conversations with you, he believes he cannot ethically continue to represent you and must withdraw. Do you understand?

**THE DEFENDANT:** Okay. Yes.

**THE COURT: Very well. Do you have any objection?**

**THE DEFENDANT: By being so close to trial, what am I supposed to do?**

**THE COURT:** The State has filed a motion to continue. Is that correct, Mr. Berger?

**MR. BERGER:** That is correct.

**THE COURT:** And I believe that we have a speedy trial issue.

**MR. BERGER:** We do. The demand runs on December 16. The State's perfectly willing to try it December 9 or 16. It's just we have a witness in training on December 2, and so we are requesting to bump it one or two weeks. However, I don't know that -- if he's requesting that a new counsel be appointed whether new counsel would get up to speed on the case in that two-week period. So it may be that this problem he has with Mr. Jones may cause the need for further delay of his waiver of

speedy trial, which can be immediately re-demanded and start a new 90-day with his new attorney, I suppose.

THE COURT: Sir, what the county attorney is saying is that --

THE DEFENDANT: I do understand what he's saying. I don't want to waive my 90 days, if that's what he's saying. No.

THE COURT: Well, first, let's start with the issue of your right to counsel. You have a constitutional right to have an attorney appointed to represent you because you remain indigent. The Court grants -- Well, based on the colloquy that I have had with your attorney, **I believe I have no choice but to grant his application to withdraw.**

Hearing on Mots. 3-4 (emphasis added).

The trial court was incorrect that it had no choice but to grant the motion to withdraw. Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:1.16 provides as follows:

**Rule 32:1.16. DECLINING OR TERMINATING REPRESENTATION**

- (a) Except as stated in paragraph (c), a lawyer shall not represent a client or, where representation has commenced, shall withdraw from the representation of a client if:
- (1) the representation will result in violation of the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct or other law;
  - (2) the lawyer's physical or mental condition materially impairs the lawyer's ability to represent the client; or
  - (3) the lawyer is discharged.
- (b) Except as stated in paragraph (c), a lawyer may withdraw from representing a client if:
- (1) withdrawal can be accomplished without material adverse effect on the interests of the client;

- (2) the client persists in a course of action involving the lawyer's services that the lawyer reasonably believes is criminal or fraudulent;
- (3) the client has used the lawyer's services to perpetrate a crime or fraud;
- (4) the client insists upon taking action that the lawyer considers repugnant or with which the lawyer has a fundamental disagreement;
- (5) the client fails substantially to fulfill an obligation to the lawyer regarding the lawyer's services and has been given reasonable warning that the lawyer will withdraw unless the obligation is fulfilled;
- (6) the representation will result in an unreasonable financial burden on the lawyer or has been rendered unreasonably difficult by the client; or
- (7) other good cause for withdrawal exists.

**(c) A lawyer must comply with applicable law requiring notice to or permission of a tribunal when terminating a representation. When ordered to do so by a tribunal, a lawyer shall continue representation notwithstanding good cause for terminating the representation.**

(d) Upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing time for employment of other counsel, surrendering papers and property to which the client is entitled, and refunding any advance payment of fee or expense that has not been earned or incurred. The lawyer may retain papers relating to the client to the extent permitted by law.

Iowa R. of Prof'l Conduct 32:1.16

Iowa R. Prof. Conduct 32:1.16(c) clearly requires permission of the trial court to withdraw and confers upon the trial court the power to order an attorney to continue representation notwithstanding good



cause for terminating the representation. Accordingly, the trial court was incorrect in its assessment that it had “no choice but to grant his application to withdraw.”

Supreme Court review of the district court's decision regarding counsel's motion to withdraw is for abuse of discretion. See State v. Brooks, 540 N.W.2d 270, 272 (Iowa 1995). A reviewing court will find an abuse of discretion only upon a showing the court exercised its discretion on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable. State v. Vanover, 559 N.W.2d 618, 627 (Iowa 1997). A ruling is untenable when the law is erroneously applied. State v. Smith, 753 N.W.2d 562, 564 (Iowa 2008)

Here the ruling is untenable because the law has been erroneously applied. Iowa R. Prof. Conduct 32:1.16 clearly granted to the district court a broader palate of choices than the district court believed it had when it reasoned it had “no choice but to grant” defense counsel’s motion to withdraw.

What the Court should have done when Miller objected to the withdraw of his counsel is conducted some form of further inquiry to determine whether Miller believed continued representation by his current counsel was possible if the Court ordered it. This additional

step is required where, as here, the Defendant has demanded a speedy trial and the circumstances of counsel's withdraw raise the strong possibility withdraw may prejudice the defendant.<sup>1</sup> The Court immediately appreciated the difficulty of appointing new counsel given the short period of time between counsel's withdraw and the current trial date, a fact he was alerted to by Miller's objection itself. Hearing on Mot. 3:8-10 ("Being so close to trial, what am I supposed to do?"). The Court also immediately appreciated the short time between appointment of counsel and the speedy trial deadline. Hearing on Mot. 3:15-16. Had the Court conducted this additional inquiry the record might demonstrate that the Court appreciated its authority under Iowa R. Prof. Conduct 32:1.16 but in reasoning he had "no choice but to grant" defense counsel's motion to withdraw the Court has clearly abused its discretion.

While the Court's abuse of discretion in granting the motion to withdraw is independently sufficient to reverse the judgement and sentence and grant the Defendant a new trial, a second problem with

---

<sup>1</sup> If the Defendant responds that he does believe continued representation is possible additional steps may be required. While it is unnecessary to articulate the exact steps a court might take for purposes of this appeal, a logical follow-up may be for the Court to ask the Defendant if he is willing to discuss that with the Court. If counsel believes his client will prejudice himself by that discussion counsel should then request an ex-parte hearing on the withdraw.

this case is that the Court’s misunderstanding of its options in ruling on the motion to withdraw creates a “reasonable presumption the defendant does not knowingly and intelligently waive the right to counsel.” A defendant must knowingly and intelligently forgo the right to counsel. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, (1975). If a waiver is not voluntary and intelligent, it is not valid. *Id.* Iowa Courts “indulge in every reasonable presumption against waiver” of the right to counsel. State v. Rater, 568 N.W.2d 655, 661 (Iowa 1997).

A “reasonable presumption against waiver” of the right to counsel is created when the Court presents the Defendant with a false choice because the Court believes and informs the Defendant that the option of Defendant’s present counsel continuing representation is unavailable. Presented with this false dichotomy, a Miller’s decision that self-representation was a better option than appointment of successor counsel can not be viewed as “voluntary and intelligent.” Miller himself asserted that “what happened today” was a motivating factor in his decision for self-representation. 9:1-4.

While this alone is sufficient Miller’s answers to the following two questions further support his waiver of counsel was not intelligent and voluntary:

THE COURT: Have you had adequate time to discuss with your attorney whether or not you will waive your right to be represented by an attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

Hearing on Mots. at 6:16-19

THE COURT: Have you discussed the trial strategy in this case with your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

Hearing on Mots. At 7:20-22

For all of the reasons asserted herein, the judgment and sentence of the District Court must be reversed and the case remanded to the District Court for a new trial or such other relief as the Court deems in the interests of justice.

### **CONCLUSION**

WHEREFORE, for the reasons set forth herein Defendant requests this Court reverse the judgment and sentence of the District Court and remand to the District Court for a new trial or other relief deemed appropriate.

**NONORAL SUBMISSION REQUEST**

While this case is important, the legal principals underlying the case are routine such that oral argument is not viewed as necessary.