# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 20—0359

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

WALTER MILLER, JR., Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY THE HON. HENRY W. LATHAM II, JUDGE

#### APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

#### ISRAEL KODIAGA

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) Israel.Kodiaga@ag.iowa.gov

MIKE WALTON Scott County Attorney

STEVEN A. BERGER Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

**FINAL** 

#

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. There was no abuse of discretion in granting Miller's counsel motion to withdraw.

# **Authorities**

State v. Lopez, 633 N.W.2d 774 (Iowa 2001)

State v. McKinely, 860 N.W.2d 824 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Vanover, 559 N.W.2d 618 (Iowa 1997)

Iowa R. Prof'l. Conduct 32:1.16(a)(1)

II. Miller's Waiver of His Right to Counsel and Invocation of His Right to Self-representation Was Knowing and Voluntary.

# **Authorities**

Adams v. U.S. ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269 (1942)

Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975)

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963)

Patterson v. Illinois, 487 U.S. 285 (1988)

State v. Cooley, 608 N.W.2d 9 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Hindman, 441 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Milton, 2005 WL 1630040

(Iowa Ct. App. July 13, 2005)

State v. Rater, 568 N.W.2d 655 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Stephenson, 608 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2000)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Transfer to the Court of Appeals is appropriate because this case presents the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Nature of the Case**

Walter Miller appeals following a jury trial in which he was found guilty of three crimes: possession of methamphetamine third or subsequent offense and enhanced as a habitual offender; failure to affix a drug stamp enhanced as a habitual offender; and assault while displaying a dangerous weapon. Miller claims that the district court abused its discretion in granting his trial counsel's motion to withdraw, he further mentions that his waiver of counsel was not intelligent and voluntary. The Honorable Henry W. Latham II presided over the jury trial and the motion to withdraw counsel.

## **Facts and Course of Proceedings**

On August 24, 2019, in Scott County case number FECR404118 Walter Miller Jr., made an initial appearance on three criminal complaints: possession of controlled substances (methamphetamine) with intent to deliver, failure to affix a drug stamp, and assault while displaying a dangerous weapon. *See* 8/24/2019 Criminal

Complaints; Amended App.7–12; 8/24/2019 Hearing for Initial Appearance; Amended App.13–15. The complaints alleged that on August 23, 2019, Miller assaulted James Rowan using a machete. And that during a search of Miller's vehicle, police officers found approximately 15 grams of methamphetamine. *Id*.

On August 26, 2019, attorney Derek G. Jones filed an appearance on behalf of Miller and waived preliminary hearing. *See* 8/26/2019 Appearance; Amended App.16; 8/26/2019 Waiver of Preliminary Hearing; Amended App.17.

On September 17, 2019, the Scott County Attorney's office formally charged Miller by way of trial information. The trial information accused Miller of possession of methamphetamine (more than 5 grams) with intent to deliver in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(1)(b)(7) (count I); failure to affix a drug stamp in violation of Iowa Code sections 453B.1(3)(a)(1), 453B.3, 453B.7(2), and 453B.12(2) (count II); assault while displaying a dangerous weapon in violation of Iowa Code section 708.2(3) (count III); and willful injury causing serious injury in violation of Iowa Code section 708.4(2) (count IV). *See* Trial Info; Amended App.18–22.

On September 18, 2019, Miller filed a written arraignment in which he demanded a speedy trial. *See* 9/18/2019 Written arraignment and Demand of Speedy Trial; Amended App.23–24. A final pretrial conference was scheduled for November 27, 2019 with jury trial scheduled for December 2, 2019. *See* Order following Pre-Trial Conference; Amended App.27–29.

On November 19, 2019, Miller's court appointed attorney— Derek G. Jones—filed a motion to withdraw representation. In his motion, counsel stated:

- **2.** Further representation of Defendant would result in me violating the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct and/or other laws. I cannot be specific without violating attorney client privilege.
- **3.** I have tried unsuccessfully to resolve the issue.
- **4.** I am therefore required to withdraw from further representation of Defendant pursuant to Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:1.16(a)(1).

See 11/19/2019 Motion to Withdraw; Amended App.30. A hearing for counsel's motion to withdraw was scheduled for November 26, 2019.

See 11/19/2019 Order Setting Hearing; Amended App.31–32.

On November 26, 2019, Miller and his counsel—Derek G.

Jones—appeared for the hearing on counsel's motion to withdraw. At

the hearing, Jones briefly expounded on his reasons for why he needed to withdraw.

Jones: I filed a motion to withdraw under the rules of professional conduct. I'm in a situation for professional considerations where withdrawal is mandatory. I cannot be specific without violating privilege, but I believe that continued representation of Mr. Miller though trial would result in my either violating a rule of professional conduct or another law. And I've attempted to resolve the situation unsuccessfully, and under the rules, like I said, I'm required to withdraw at this point.

**The Court:** Mr. Miller, do you understand what your attorney is telling me? That based on his investigation and his conversations with you, he believes he cannot ethically represent you and must withdraw. Do you understand?

Defendant: Okay. Yes.

The Court: Very well. Do you have any objection?

**Defendant**: By being so close to trial, what am I supposed to do?

**The Court:** The State has filed a motion to continue. Is that correct [Prosecutor?]

**Prosecutor**: That is correct.

See Motion to Withdraw Tr. p. 2, Lines 11–p. 3, Lines 14. At this point, Miller advised the court that he would be objecting to any waiver of his speedy trial rights. *Id.* p. 4, Lines 4–8. The court then stated:

**The Court:** Well, let's first start with the issue of your right to counsel. You have a constitutional right to have an attorney appointed to represent you because you remain indigent. The Court grants—Well, based on the colloquy that I have had with your attorney, I believe I have no choice but to grant his application to withdraw. Does that, then, disqualify the public defender office in this matter, Mr. Jones?

**Jones:** In this case, it would.

**The Court:** Sir, because you have the right to have an attorney appointed to represent you, I am willing to appoint another attorney to represent you. Do you request the appointment of counsel?

Defendant: No.

**The Court:** Is it your desire, then, to continue in this matter to represent yourself?

**Defendant:** Yes.

Id. p. 4, Lines 9-p. 5, Lines 1.

At this point, because Miller had indicated his desire to represent himself, the court engaged him in a colloquy to determine whether his choice of self-representation was voluntary and intelligently made and whether he understood the obstacles inherent in self-representation.

**The Court:** Sir, before I can allow you to waive your right to be represented by counsel, I must inquire about your understanding of the waiver and of this important constitutional guarantee. To assure myself you are waiving this right intelligently, voluntarily, and

knowingly, I'm going to ask you a number of questions. Please answer them out loud so my court reporter can take down your answers.

If you do not understand the question, please let me know and I will rephrase it. If at any time during this process you wish to speak with Mr. Jones, you will be allowed to do so. Do you understand?

**Defendant:** Yes, sir.

*Id.* p. 5, Lines 5–22. The court then asked whether Miller had any trouble reading and understanding the English language. Miller said he did not. Id. p. 6, Lines 3–5. Miller further stated that no one had coerced him or threatened him as regards the decision to represent himself, and that he was not taking any medication, was not under the influence of any drugs or alcohol, nor was he under any psychiatric care. *Id.* p. 6, Lines 9–p. 7, Lines 10. When asked whether he was familiar with the law, Miller responded that he had previously represented himself in a trial in which he had a standby counsel. Id. p. 7, Lines 11–p. 9, Lines 11. At this point of the colloquy, the court, on its own motion, reversed its decision to grant withdrawal of Jones's representation so that Jones could assist in answering any questions in regard to Miller's representation. *Id.* 

The court then made a searching inquiry on whether Miller understood voire dire and the other mechanics of the jury trial

process. Miller answered clearly and unequivocally that he understood the process and was able to navigate it himself. Id. p. 10, Lines 2-p. 12, lines 12. The court admonished Miller that if he represented himself, he would have to comply with the evidentiary rules and that the court would not grant him preferential treatment. Miller stated that he understood. *Id.* p. 12, Lines 14–p. 13, Lines 7. The court finally advised Miller of the nature of the charges and the potential penalties upon conviction as well as the State's plea offer. *Id.* p. 13, Lines 13–p. 15, Lines 14. The court then asked Jones whether it would be unethical for him to act as Miller's standby counsel. Id. p. 15, Lines 15–25. Jones stated that he would be in the same ethical problem and requested the court appoint a different standby counsel. Id. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court instructed Jones to find Miller a replacement counsel who would act on a standby basis. The court further stated that it would grant Jones's motion to withdraw once a replacement counsel had been identified. Id. p. 18, Lines 4-p. 19, Lines 8.

On November 27, 2019, the court found that there was good cause for Jones's motion to withdraw and granted the motion. *See* 11/27/2019 Order Granting Withdrawal; Amended App.33–34. In

the same order, the court appointed attorney Ryan Beckenbaugh as Miller's standby counsel. *Id.* Trial was scheduled for December 9, 2019. *Id.* 

On December 9, 2019, prior to commencement of trial, the court elected to make another comprehensive record to ensure that Miller's decision to represent himself was knowing and voluntary. During this second lengthy colloquy, Miller once again reaffirmed his desire to waive his rights to counsel and stated his waiver was knowing and intelligent. Jury Trial Tr. p. 7, Lines 10–p. 26, Lines 17.

The jury returned a guilty verdict on three of Miller's four charges. *See* 12/12/2019 Criminal Verdict Forms; Amended App.35–38. Miller timely appealed. *See* 2/20/2020 Notice of Appeal; Amended App.42–43.

On this direct appeal, Miller contends (1) the trial court abused its discretion in granting his counsel's motion to withdraw, and (2) he did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his constitutional right to counsel and invoke his right to self-representation.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. There was no abuse of discretion in granting Miller's counsel motion to withdraw.

#### **Preservation of Error**

The State does not contest error preservation. *See* 11/19/2019 Motion to withdraw; Amended App.30; 11/27/2019 Order Granting Withdrawal; Amended App.33–34.

#### Standard of Review

Review of an order regarding defense counsel's motion to withdraw is for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Lopez*, 633 N.W.2d 774, 778 (Iowa 2001). To constitute an abuse of discretion there has to be a showing the district court exercised its discretion on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable. *State v. Vanover*, 559 N.W.2d 618, 627 (Iowa 1997).

#### **Merits**

Miller claims the trial court abused its discretion in granting his attorney's motion to withdraw from representation. Def's Br. at 12–18. Critically, he does not challenge the fact that his attorney's continued representation was going to result in his attorney violating the Iowa rules of professional Conduct or other law. Rather, he seizes on this statement by the trial court: "Well, based on the colloquy that

I have had with your attorney, I believe I have no choice but to grant his application to withdraw," See Motion to Withdraw Tr. p. 4, Lines 9–15, and argues that because the court has inherent power to order an attorney to continue representation notwithstanding good cause for withdrawal, the court's statement that it "had no choice" made the ruling untenable. Def's Br. at 16–17. According to Miller, the proper course of action was for the court to conduct "some form of further inquiry to determine whether Miller believed continued representation by his current counsel was possible if the court ordered it." Def's Br. at 17–18. He adds, without citing to any authority, that "this additional step is required where, as here, the Defendant has demanded a speedy trial and the circumstances of counsel's withdraw[sic] raise the strong possibility withdraw[sic] may prejudice the defendant." Id. Miller's ipse dixits lack merit.

Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:1.16(a)(1) requires a lawyer to withdraw from representing a client when "the representation will result in violation of the Iowa Rules of Professional conduct or other law. Here, Miller's attorney moved to withdraw citing the fact that his continued representation of Miller would violate the attorney ethics rule. *See* 11/19/2019 Motion to

Withdraw; Amended App.30. And the trial court made the necessary inquiry into the foundation for the motion before granting the motion. That cannot be said to be an abuse of discretion. Nevertheless, Miller claims abuse of discretion and urges that "some form of further inquiry" was warranted. Def's Br. At 17. Yet, he does not even care to state what sort of inquiry was lacking. To the extent that Miller is arguing that because he preferred Jones as his counsel and thus the court was required to order him to represent Miller even in the face of violating the ethical rules, he is incorrect. A defendant's preference for retaining their court appointed counsel does not preclude disqualification when circumstances require it. See State v. McKinely, 860 N.W.2d 824, 880 (Iowa 2015). And here, there can be no abuse of discretion when the court reasonably balances the need for orderly justice and integrity of the judicial system with the facts underlying the request and finds that a substitute or a standby counsel can be appointed to represent a defendant. Miller has failed to meet his burden proving an abuse of discretion. This Court should affirm.

# II. Miller's Waiver of His Right to Counsel and Invocation of His Right to Self-representation Was Knowing and Voluntary.

#### **Preservation of Error**

The State does not contest error preservation. The duty of the court to conduct an adequate colloquy when the defendant exercises his Sixth Amendment right to self-representation is not subject to forfeiture through lack of error preservation. *See State v.*Stephenson, 608 N.W.2d 778, 782 (Iowa 2000).

#### Standard of Review

Constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo. *State v. Rater*, 568 N.W.2d 655, 657 (Iowa 1997).

#### **Merits**

It is now a fundamental precept of our criminal justice systems that every defendant, rich or poor, has the right to assistance of counsel. *See Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 343 (1963). Yet a criminal defendant also has the right under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to waive the right to counsel and represent himself or herself. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 819–20 (1975). Because a defendant choosing to represent himself relinquishes the benefits associated with the assistance of counsel, he or she must "knowingly and intelligently" waive that right. *Id.* at 835. Nevertheless, "a

defendant need not himself have the skill and experience of a lawyer in order competently and intelligently choose self-representation . . ."

Id.

If the defendant is mentally competent and, within a reasonable time before trial, makes an unequivocal request knowingly and voluntarily after having been advised by the court of the dangers of self-representation, the request must be granted. Faretta, 422 U.S. at p. 835. To ensure a waiver of counsel is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, a district court judge "must investigate [the request to proceed pro se] as long and as thoroughly as the circumstances of the case before him demand." State v. Cooley, 608 N.W.2d 9, 15 (Iowa 2000). "The degree of inquiry necessary to assure a valid waiver varies with the nature of the offense and the ability of the accused to understand the process." Stephenson, 608 N.W.2d at 782; see also State v. Hindman, 441 N.W.2d 770, 772 (Iowa 1989) (holding a limited inquiry is sufficient for an operating while intoxicated offense).

The U.S. Supreme Court has taken a "pragmatic approach" to the waiver-of-counsel question and to evaluating "the type of warnings and procedures that should be required before a waiver of that right will be recognized." *Patterson v. Illinois*, 487 U.S. 285, 298 (1988). The inquiry is not designed to test the competency or skill of a defendant in effectively representing himself; rather, it is a safeguard to ensure that the defendant seeking to represent himself "knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open." *Adams v. U.S. ex rel. McCann*, 317 U.S. 269, 279 (1942). Substantial compliance is sufficient. *See State v. Milton*, 2005 WL 1630040 (Iowa Ct. App. July 13, 2005).

Without presenting an adequate argument with proper citation to the record, Miller suggests he did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to counsel. Def's Br. at 19–20. He claims the trial court offered him a "false choice" when it granted his attorney's motion to withdraw. Def's Br. at 19. To the extent that his argument is that his decision was not knowing and intelligently made, the record flatly belies his claim.

Here, a review of the record reflects Miller knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel and invoked his right to self-representation on not one but two separate hearings. *See generally* 11/26/2019 Motion to Withdraw Tr. p. 5, Lines 10–p. 18, Lines 13; *see also* Jury Trial Tr. p. 7, Lines 10–p. 26, Lines 17.

In both hearings, the trial court made a comprehensive inquiry and adequately advised Miller on his decision for self-representation and took time to ensure Miller understood the usefulness of counsel and the dangers of proceeding without counsel with specificity. *Id.* In both colloquies, Miller's choice to proceed without counsel was unquestionably clear and unequivocal. Id. The court made a searching inquiry concerning Miller's decision, his familiarity with the criminal proceedings from prior criminal charges, the nature of the charges facing him and the potential punishments, the reasons for his decision and whether he was capable of making an informed decision. Id. The court inquired into Miller's age, education, and his understanding of the charges against him and the various penalties. *Id.* The court repeatedly warned Miller of the dangers he would encounter as his own attorney, including that he would be held to the same standard of an attorney with respect to detail such as cross examination, picking and addressing the jury and the rules of evidence. Id. Throughout the lengthy colloquies, Miller remained consistent that he wanted to represent himself and that he was ready for that responsibility. Because the entire record shows that Miller's

waiver of his right to counsel was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent, this Court should affirm.

#### CONCLUSION

The district court did not abuse its discretion in granting

Miller's trial counsel's motion to withdraw and Miller knowingly and
voluntarily chose to represent himself at trial; his convictions should
be affirmed.

### REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

This case is appropriate for submission without oral argument.